1982

In the matter of the estate of Louis A. Grossen : Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF THE CASE

Appellants petitioned for a determination that their father, Louis A. Grossen, died intestate since his purported will was invalidly witnessed by a person under 18 years of age. Appellants also petitioned for appointment as personal representative, having priority under Section 75-3-203, U.C.A., 1953 (as amended). Respondent Earl Grossen objected and filed his petition for probate of the invalid will and for appointment as the personal representative named in the will.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

At an evidentiary hearing on September 21, 1981, before the Honorable Kenneth Rigtrup, District Judge, the lower court denied Appellants' petition and granted the petition of the Respondent Earl Grossen, admitted the invalid will to probate and appointed Respondent as personal representative. Appellants, Mrs. Vincent and Mrs. Taylor, appeal from that Order.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellants seek a reversal of the order admitting the alleged will to formal probate and appointing Earl Grossen as personal representative. Appellants also seek a determination that the decedent died without a valid will and for appointment as personal representative. In the alternative, Appellants seek a rehearing in the lower court.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

At the time of his death on April 17, 1981, Louis Auer Grossen was 80 years of age, a resident of Salt Lake County, Utah, where he owned real and personal property. (R. 6) Appellants, Mae Eleanor Grossen Vincent and Lucille M. Grossen Taylor, are daughters of the decedent by his first wife, Mae Grossen.

On November 25, 1929, the decedent married Vivian Anderson in Farmington, Utah. The Respondent Earl Grossen is the son of the decedent by his second wife, Vivian. (R. 37; Exh. 2) In July, 1943, Vivian was awarded a decree of divorce from the decedent. (Exh. 1) Although Vivian and the decedent resided together at his death, there was no subsequent valid marriage. (R. 6, 7; Exh. 2)

On several occasions shortly before his death, the decedent stated to his daughters that he had no last will and testament and wanted to find a lawyer to have one made. This proffer of testimony by Appellants was rejected by the trial court. (R. 19-20) On July 10, 1974, the decedent purportedly executed a document entitled his "Last Will and Testament." (R. 10) It is interesting to note that while Earl Grossen is the nominated

personal representative in the alleged will, he never presented the document to the court for probate until Appellants filed their petition for determination of intestacy in August, 1981. (R. 18, 23)

The lower court specifically found that on the date that the document was allegedly executed and witnessed, Scott Hill was only 16 years old. (R. at 33) Scott Hill testified that he has no present recollection of having signed the alleged testamentary document, nor can he recall Mr. Grossen's signing of the document or any declaration by Mr. Grossen that the document was, in fact, his will. (R. at 13-14, 69)

Mr. Richard Hill testified that he witnessed the decedent's signature on the document and that Mr. Grossen said it was his will. (Tr. 56-57) However, Mr. Hill also admitted that he had stated on prior occasions that he had no such recollection. (Tr. 61-63)

Upon hearing the testimony of the "subscribing witnesses" and rejecting the proffered testimony of Appellants, the Honorable Kenneth Rigtrup, District Judge of the Third Judicial District Court, ruled that the alleged will should be admitted to formal probate and that Mr. Grossen be appointed personal representative. (R. 36-38) The court held that the former probate code was applicable and that a witness need not be 18 years of age. (R. 29)

The court entered its Order and Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law on September 30, 1981. (Tr. 32, 36) Letters testamentary were issued to Earl Grossen on October 2, 1981. (Tr. 40) On October 30, 1981, Appellants filed their Notice of Appeal. (R. at 41-42)

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

1. Whether the trial court erred in admitting to probate a document not witnessed by two valid witnesses, as required by Sections 75-2-502 and 75-2-505 of the Utah Uniform Probate Code.

2. Whether the requirements of the Utah Uniform Probate Code apply to the will of a decedent dying after July 1, 1977, even though his will was executed in July, 1974.

3. Whether the trial court erred in failing to grant Appellants' petition for a determination of decedent's intestacy when the document offered for probate was invalidly executed under the requirements of the Utah Uniform Probate Code.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

When Mr. Louis Grossen died on April 17, 1981, the requirements of execution of a will under the Utah Uniform Probate Code were in effect and applicable to the alleged will. The present statute expressly provides that its requirements are applicable to the wills of all decedents dying after July 1, 1977. The privilege of distributing one's property by a will is a purely statutory privilege and no rights become vested under a will until the death of the testator. The Utah legislature was entirely within its authority when it made the provisions of the Utah Uniform Probate Code applicable to previously executed wills. Such being the case, the Utah Uniform Probate Code is controlling on the question of validity of Mr. Grossen's alleged will, since Mr. Grossen died in 1981.

Sections 75-2-502 and 75-2-505 of the Utah Uniform Probate Code address the formalities required for the execution of a valid

will. Because the statutory formalities for valid execution of a will are mandatory requirements, there must be strict compliance. Those requirements include that there must be two valid witnesses over 18 years of age. Contrary to the code requirement, Scott Hill was only 16 years old at the time of the alleged execution of the document.

The invalidity of one of the witnesses to Mr. Grossen's alleged will results in the invalidity of that document as a will since the requirement that a will be witnessed by two valid witnesses was not complied with. This result is the same as that reached by the Supreme Court of Idaho, addressing the identical issue under identical provisions of the Idaho Uniform Probate Code.

Since no other testamentary document has been presented for formal probate, the trial court should have granted Appellants' petition for appointment and determination of intestacy.

ARGUMENT

POINT I. THE REQUIREMENT OF THE UTAH UNIFORM PROBATE CODE THAT WITNESSES TO A WILL BE OVER EIGHTEEN YEARS OF AGE APPLIES TO THE ALLEGED WILL OF A DECEDENT WHO DIED IN 1981.

The question of which law is controlling over the will of Louis Grossen is answered by Utah Code Annotated, Section 75-8-101(2)(a) (1953, as amended, 1976):

This code [the Utah Uniform Probate Code] applies to any wills of decedents dying [after July 1, 1977].

This language, when coupled with the further provisions of Section 75-8-101, evidences a legislative intent that the Utah Uniform Probate Code controls the validity of a will of any person dying after July 1, 1977.

Although Subsections (2)(b) and (2)(d) of Section 75-8-101

provide that earlier statutory provisions may be applied in pending proceedings if justice demands and also that the new probate code will not interfere with any rights vested before its effective date, neither of these provisions apply. This probate proceeding was not initiated until 1981, well after the effective date of the Utah Uniform Probate Code, and none of the rights contested in the present case had vested as of July 1, 1977.

In addition to the express language of the Utah Uniform Probate Code, important policy considerations require that the sufficiency of execution of a will be determined by the law in force at the time of the testator's death. Primary among these considerations is the need to show deference to the state legislature in its determination of state probate procedures.

[T]he disposing of one's property by will in a manner different than it would descend by law is not a natural inherent right which arose out of common law, but is a privilege granted by the legislature under specific conditions which must be strictly complied with.

In Re Baxter's Estate, 16 Utah 2d 284, 399 P.2d 442, 443 (1965). It cannot be argued that the former law, effective in 1974, automatically validates the decedent's will. The will does not "speak," nor do rights under a will become vested until the time of the testator's death. See, also, In Re Zimmerman's Estate, 207 Kan. 354, 485 P.2d 215 (1971); In Re Fernandez, 173 N.J. Super. 240, 413 A.2d 998 (1980). The validity of the will is determined by the law in effect at the death of the decedent. In Re Estate of Buffi, 98 Ida. 354, 564 P.2d 150 (1970); In Re Estate of Lane, 99 Ida. 850, 590 P.2d 577 (1979).

There is nothing unusual or unconscionable about requiring

that the applicable statutory provisions be met in order for a court to recognize the validity of a testamentary document. The new probate code was designed to avoid the very problem encountered here to insure the responsibility, integrity and maturity of witnesses.

When initially approached regarding their execution of the document, neither witness had any recollection of the situation or circumstances. (R. 10-12) The sixteen-year-old still has no recollection of what occurred or even if the document was ever signed by the decedent. Mr. Richard Hill's recollection, and consequently his testimony, improved after communications with the Respondent and Respondent's counsel. (R. 10-11) This must be considered in light of the trial court's erroneous refusal to admit as evidence statements by the decedent prior to his death that he did not have a valid will and wanted to make one.

We submit that the provisions of the Uniform Probate Code, effective in 1977, are fully applicable to this case. The lower court erred in refusing to apply the provisions and statutory requirements of the Uniform Probate Code for the valid execution of the decedent's will.

POINT II. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ADMITTING TO PROBATE AN ALLEGED WILL WHICH WAS NOT WITNESSED BY TWO VALID WITNESSES.

Section 2-505 of the Uniform Probate Code, as enacted by the Utah legislature, was specifically changed upon adoption to require that a valid witness to a will be eighteen years of age. Utah Code Annotated, Section 75-2-505 (1973, as amended, 1976). "Any person of the age of eighteen years or over who is generally

competent may act as a witness." The language of the statute is clear and unambiguous.

This Court has held that the right to dispose of property by will is governed and controlled entirely by statute. Such statutes are mandatory; and unless strictly complied with, the instrument, as a will, is void. In Re Walcott's Estate, 54 Utah 165, 180 Pac. 169, 170 (1919); see, also, In Re Alexander's Estate, 104 Utah 286, 139 P.2d 432 (1943).

The "eighteen-year-old" requirement was inserted by the legislature in adopting provisions of the Idaho Probate Code. Presently only Utah and Idaho have such a requirement. The Supreme Court of Idaho has addressed its identical age-limiting provision incorporated in the 1971 Idaho Uniform Probate Code. In In Re Estate of Lane, 99 Ida. 850, 590 P.2d 577 (1979), the Idaho Supreme Court considered a will, one of the witnesses to which had been a married person but only 17 years of age at the time of witnessing the will. In invalidating the will, the court held that the requirement that a witness be 18 or more years of age was mandatory. 590 P.2d at 577.

The court in Lane noted particularly that the age requirement had been added to the language of the Uniform Probate Code by the Idaho legislature and that the addition evidenced a legislative intent that the requirement be strictly applied. Id. The analysis used by the Idaho Supreme Court in Lane is directly applicable to Utah's age requirement for witnesses to a will. Such an inclusion in Utah is an affirmative manifestation of legislative intent that the age requirement of witnesses to wills in Utah be strictly

complied with.

The prior statute, Utah Code Annotated, Section 74-1-5 (1953), and the Uniform Probate Code, Section 75-2-505, U.C.A. (1953, as amended, 1976), both require that in order for a will to be valid, it must be witnessed by two competent and qualified witnesses. In addressing Utah's earlier statute, the Utah Supreme Court held:

It is within the province of the legislature to prescribe whatever formalities in the execution of a will which its judgment dictates; and where such formalities are prescribed a failure to comply therewith may not be excused by showing that in a particular case there was no fraud, nor indeed, by demonstrating that a less stringent requirement would as effectively prevent fraud. The provision under discussion is a definite prescription. To attempt to construe it other than literally would amount to a substitution of our judgment for that of the legislature as to legislative policy.

In Re Alexander's Estate, 104 Utah 286, 139 P.2d 432, 434 (1943).

The analysis with respect to the number of witnesses to a will is the same as to the age requirements of those witnesses. The statute is mandatory and a failure to satisfy its provisions results in an invalid will. This reasoning is consistent with the result in Lane above. There the Supreme Court of Idaho found the will invalid upon the failure of one witness to meet the statutory requirements even though the other witness was fully qualified and no other irregularities in the document itself were noted. 590 P.2d at 577. The present case is factually identical to the situation addressed by the Supreme Court of Idaho in Lane. The statutory language is identical. Therefore, the result should also be identical. The alleged will of the decedent is invalid for want of sufficient, valid and qualifying witnesses.

POINT III. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO GRANT APPELLANTS' PETITION TO DETERMINE DECEDENT'S INTESTACY AND TO APPOINT MRS. VINCENT AS PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVE.

The invalidity of the propounded document, coupled with the fact that no other testamentary document has been produced, leads to the conclusion that the court's denial of Appellants' petition for a determination of Louis Grossen's intestacy was erroneous. There is no evidence or facts in the record to dispute the allegations of Appellants' petition except as to the dispute over the validity of the alleged will.