1982

In the matter of the estate of Louis A. Grossen : Brief of Respondent Earl Louis Grossen

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an action to determine the testacy or intestacy of Louis A. Grossen, deceased, and to determine the validity or invalidity of the decedent's Last Will and Testament, dated July 10, 1974.

Appellants allege that the will is invalid because one witness was under the age of 18 when the will was executed. Respondents claim that at the time the will was witnessed, there was no legal age requirement for witnesses.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

An evidentiary hearing was held on September 21, 1981, before the Honorable Kenneth Rigtrup, District Judge. Judge Rigtrup found that the will had been validly executed and witnessed, and admitted it to probate. Judge Rigtrup further denied the Appellants' petition for appointment of personal representative and appointed Respondent personal representative.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Respondent seeks affirmance of the disposition of the court below.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The matters set forth in the first two paragraphs of Appellants' statement of facts are correct except that the record does not conclusively show that the decedent did not remarry his second wife after their divorce in 1943 (R. 20, 73-74).

The matters set forth in the third paragraph of Appellants' statement of facts are not properly facts before this Court. As Appellants concede, their proffer of testimony regarding statements allegedly made before the decedent's death was ruled inadmissible by the trial court (R. 71-72). Appellants have not challenged the validity of that ruling.

The court below found that the decedent executed the Last Will and Testament in dispute in this case and that it was properly witnessed (R. 81-82). It is irrelevant that Respondent did not file the will for probate until after Appellants filed their petition.

The court below did specifically find that, on the date that Mr. Grossen's Last Will and Testament was executed and witnessed, Scott Hill was only 16 years old (R. 33). The court also found that "the execution of the will by the decedent was made in the presence of Richard B. Hill and Scott Hill

as attesting witnesses, the decedent at the time of the execution of the will indicated to the subscribing witnesses that it was his will and requested them to execute the same, and the two attesting witnesses signed their names at the end of the will at the testator's request, in his presence, and in the presence of each other (R. 33, 81-82). Appellants have not challenged the sufficiency of the evidence upon which such findings were made. The testimony of Richard B. Hill and Scott Hill referred to in Appellants' brief, to the effect that their recollections of exactly what took place are poor, is therefore irrelevant to the issues on appeal herein.

Upon hearing the evidence presented at the hearing, the court below ruled that Mr. Grossen's Last Will and Testament was valid and properly executed and witnessed, and admitted that will to probate (R. 33-34, 81-82). Respondent was appointed personal representative (R. 37, 82). In admitting the will to probate, the court found that the will was validly executed and witnessed according to the law of the State of Utah at the time the will was executed, and that, at that time, such law did not include an age requirement for witnesses to a will (R. 80-81).

The matters set forth in the final paragraph of appellants' statement of facts are correct.

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

The only issue properly before this Court on appeal is the following:

Whether a will which was validly executed and witnessed in 1974 by two witnesses, one of whom was under age 18, and which was never revoked, remains valid under the Utah Uniform Probate Code as adopted in 1975, which requires that the witnesses to wills be over the age of 18 years.

Appellants argue in both Points I and II of their brief that the decedent's will was invalid because one of the witnesses did not meet the age requirement set forth in Utah Code Ann. § 75-2-505 (1953, as amended, 1975). Both points present that single issue, and no other. Appellants nowhere argue that, prior to adoption of the Uniform Probate Code in Utah in 1976, Utah law imposed any specific age requirement on witnesses to a will and the court below found that no such age requirement existed before adoption of the Utah Uniform Probate Code (R. 81). Nevertheless, Respondent will complete his argument by discussing in Respondent's Point II the absence of such an age requirement before 1977.

The court below made no finding of fact as to whether the decedent was married on the date of his death (R. 73). Given the disposition of the case below, such a finding was not necessary. In their Point III, Appellants assume it to be an established fact that the decedent was not, in fact, married at the date of his death. Such supposed fact is not conclusively

established in the record. Furthermore, the court below neither received evidence nor made any rulings as to the fitness of either candidate for appointment as personal representative, other than respondent. Point III of Appellants' argument is therefore not properly at issue on this appeal. If this Court should rule that Mr. Grossen's will should not have been admitted to probate, this case should be returned to the court below for further hearing and determination.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

1. A will which was validly executed and witnessed in 1974 and was never revoked remains valid under the Utah Uniform Probate Code.

2. The will in question was validly executed and witnessed according to Utah law in 1974.

3. If the court should rule adversely to respondent on this appeal, the case should be remanded to the trial court for further hearing to receive additional evidence and determine the most suitable personal representative.

ARGUMENT

I

A WILL WHICH WAS VALIDLY EXECUTED
AND WITNESSED IN 1974 AND WAS NEVER REVOKED
REMAINS VALID UNDER THE UTAH UNIFORM PROBATE CODE.

As Appellants note, there is no question that the Utah Uniform Probate Code "applies to any wills of decedents dying"

after July 1, 1977. Utah Code Ann. § 75-8-101 (2)(a) (1953, as amended 1975). Respondent does not argue, and the court below did not rule, that the Uniform Probate Code does not apply. Appellants' argument that the code applies, and indeed that it controls the validity of a will of any person dying after July 1, 1977, is entirely beside the point.

In fact, because it was validly executed and witnessed under Utah law in 1974, (as discussed in Point II, below), that will is valid according to the express terms of § 75-2-506 (1953, as amended 1975):

A written will is valid if executed in compliance with § 75-2-502 or 75-2-503 or if its execution complies with the law at the time of execution of the place where the will is executed. (Emphasis added)

In finding that the will at issue in this case is valid, the trial court did nothing more than apply the literal and unambiguous language of that section. As a general rule, the courts should not substitute their own interpretations for the clear, literal meaning of a statute. Gord v. Salt Lake City, 20 Utah 2d 138, 434 P.2d 449 (1967). See, also, the language from In re Alexander's Estate, 104 Utah 286, 139 P.2d 432, 434 (1943), quoted in Brief for Appellants at 9.

Any ruling other than that adopted by the court below would have contravened not only the language but also the policies underlying the Utah Uniform Probate Code. Given the clear language of § 75-2-506, the policy noted by Appellants

favoring "deference to the State Legislature in its determination of State probate procedures" (Brief for Appellants at 6), supports respondent's position. In this regard, it is worth noting that In re Estate of Lane, 99 Ida. 850, 590 P.2d 577 (1979), upon which Appellants rely extensively, is neither "factually identical" nor "directly applicable" to the case on appeal herein. In Lane, the Idaho court merely applied the witness age requirement to a will which was executed after the age requirement had taken effect. The Idaho court had no reason not to apply that age requirement strictly and literally, because nothing in the Idaho statutes directed it to do otherwise. In contrast, in the case on appeal herein, Respondent readily concedes that, with respect to wills to which § 75-2-506 does not apply, the provisions of § 75-2-505, requiring witnesses to be over age 18, deserve strict application. It is, however, just as important to apply the terms of § 75-2-506 strictly and literally, in deference to the judgment of the Utah Legislature.

Likewise pertinent are the policies expressly articulated in the Utah Uniform Probate Code itself. Utah Code Ann. § 75-1-102 provides:

(1) This code shall be liberally construed and applied to promote its underlying purposes and policies.

(2) The underlying purposes and policies of this code are: . . . (b) to discover and make effective the intent of a decedent in distribution of his property; . . . and

. . . (e) to make uniform the law among the various jurisdictions.

(Emphasis added).

The trial court expressly found that the decedent executed his Last Will and Testament "of his own free will and choice" and not "as the result of fraud, duress, undue influence, mistake, or any other condition that would cause the will not to be valid" (R. 33). Thus, the intent of the decedent is not in doubt, and any attempt to ignore the clear language of § 75-2-506 would result in the defeat of that clearly expressed intent. (The circumstances and intention of the Testator at the time of execution of the will are, of course, controlling ones. Wright v. Wright, 520 P.2d 563 (Utah, 1974)). As a corollary to the policy which favors discovering and giving effect to the intent of a decedent, Utah law recognizes a presumption against intestacy. In re Estate of Gardner, 615 P.2d 1215 (Utah, 1980). Of course, these principles are ordinarily applied in interpreting a will itself, but there is no reason why this Court should not consider them in the course of statutory construction as well. Absent important policy considerations to the contrary, then, this court should not adopt a reading of § 75-2-506 which both ignores the clear language of that section and would result in the intestacy of the decedent and the defeat of his clearly expressed intent. In addition, to place any such construction on the statute could cause numerous wills to be invalidated; surely the Legislature would not have intended such a result.

Appellants neither cite nor refer to § 75-2-506 in their brief, so it is difficult to determine their position regarding its application. Appellants may have intended to argue that this Court should only apply that section to wills executed in states other than Utah. Aside from the fact that it would ignore the clear, unambiguous language of the section and the equally clear intent of the decedent, such a ruling would contravene the second expressed policy of the Utah Uniform Probate Code noted above, that favors uniformity of law. If the words "at the time of execution" are not to be ignored, such a limitation on the scope of the section would mean that, hypothetically, if the execution and witnessing of Mr. Grossen's will had taken place in Idaho before that State's adoption of a witness age requirement, and if that will were submitted for probate in Utah, the Utah court would admit that will, whereas an Idaho court would not, despite the fact that the will was valid in Idaho at the time it was executed. Likewise, an Idaho court would, by virtue of § 75-2-506, admit Mr. Grossen's will as actually executed and witnessed in Utah, although the will would not be admitted in Utah. Such a result does violence to the policy in favor of uniformity of law.

In addition, the results described above, which would necessarily follow from limiting the application of § 75-2-506 to wills executed in states other than Utah, would make little sense. A statute is not to be interpreted so as to produce

absurd and senseless results. Curtis v. Harmon Electronics, Inc., 575 P.2d 1044 (Utah, 1978).

Such a limitation of § 75-2-506 might be defensible if that section declared valid in Utah only those wills which are now valid in the states in which they were executed. Wills would then, under § 75-2-506, be universally either valid or invalid. That is, however, not what the section says. Rather, § 75-2-506 validates wills which were validly executed "at the time of execution [in] the place where. . . executed." It is a universal principal of statutory construction that statutes are to be interpreted so as to give effect to all of their parts. Millet v. Clark Clinic Corp., 609 P.2d 934 (Utah, 1980); Grant v. Utah State Land Board, 26 Utah 2d 100, 485 P.2d 1035 (1971).

II

THE WILL IN QUESTION WAS VALIDLY EXECUTED AND WITNESSED ACCORDING TO UTAH LAW IN 1974.

Prior to the enactment of Utah Code Ann. § 75-2-505 in 1975, Utah law contained no age limitations for witnesses to a will. Absent such a provision in the Probate Code, general provisions governed the competence of the witnesses to a will. 79 Am. Jur. 2d Wills § 284 (1975). Under those general provisions, which were controlling in 1974, a sixteen-year-old was perfectly competent to act as a witness, absent some indication of mental incompetence or inability to understand or remember the subject of testimony. Utah Code Ann. § 78-24-1 (1953);

State v. Middelstadt, 579 P.2d 908 (Utah, 1978); State v. Smith, 16 Utah 2d 374, 401 P.2d 445 (1965). The court below found that the witnesses to the decedent's will were competent under the general rules with respect to witnesses in Utah. They therefore met the requirements of Utah law in effect at the time the will of decedent was executed.

III

IF THE COURT SHOULD RULE ADVERSELY TO RESPONDENT ON THIS APPEAL, THE CASE SHOULD BE REMANDED TO THE TRIAL COURT FOR FURTHER HEARING TO RECEIVE ADDITIONAL EVIDENCE AND DETERMINE THE MOST SUITABLE PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVE

In appointing respondent personal representative, the court below followed the provisions of Utah Code Ann. § 75-3-203 (1953, as amended 1975), which sets forth the priority among persons seeking appointment as personal representative. Because the will names respondent as personal representative, the court so ordered. (R. 36-37). The court therefore had no occasion to determine whether the decedent was married at the time of death, and if not, who would be most fit to act as personal representative.

Appellants request an order from this Court naming appellant Mrs. Vincent as personal representative, claiming that, "any allegation that Vivian Grossen has priority for appointment as personal representative under § 75-3-203(d), as surviving spouse of Louis Grossen, is defeated by the fact that at the time of Louis Grossen's death, Vivian was not, in fact, married to Mr. Grossen." (Appellants' Brief at 10). This